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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annua! report and the audited financial statementis for the year ended 31 July
2010.

ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Institute are to carry out teaching, curating and research in the aress of art
history and the conservation of wali and easel paintings, to cperate an art gallery and fo provide and
maintain facilittes and services in support of the principal activities. The Instifute is a company limited by
guarantee (company no. 4464432) and an exempt charity for the purposes of the Charities Act 1893
under the Exempt Charities Order 2002 No.1626.

Vision and Mission Statement

The Courtauld Institute of Art (“The Courtauld”, or “the institute”) is dedicated to the studying and teaching
of art history and conservation at the highest levels in the world.

The Courtauld is a leading international centre of intellectual enquiry in the fields of the history,
conservation and curalorship of art and archifecture. It fosters and advances the understanding, care and
enjoyment of the visual arts through a distinctive combination of;

s« Advanced research

»  3Specialist teaching

« Professional training

¢ Exceptional libraries and visual resources
e An oufstanding gallery

e Diverse public programmes

Strategic Aims

» The Sirategic Plan is currently being reviewed. The latest version was approved by the
Governing Board in July 2007.

In order io achieve our mission we currently have seven core sirategic aims;

s to secure the institute’s international posifion as a research centre of the highest calibre in the
disciplines of the history of art and architecture and in museumn and conservation studies;

¢ {o attract national and international students with the highest academic, intejlectual and technical
notential to art hisiory and conservation regardiess of background;

¢ {0 realise students’ potential by means of teaching and learning methods of the highest guality;

+ 1o care for and develop the libraries and visual resources as a central part of the Institute’s
teaching and research;

e 1o care for and devslop the Galiery and collection as a central part of the Institute's teaching and
research and for wider public benefit and enjoyment; to use them as key vehicies for
disseminating new knowledge and understanding;

e 1o raise philanthropic income in support of The Courtauld’s mission and strategic aims;

» to secure long term financial viabiity.

Underpinning these are cross-cutting supporting atms:

s To achieve excelience in the leadership, governance and management of the institute;

e To deliver excelience and efficiency in the organisation through the enhancement of systems and
through staff development;

» To develop an estate which is fit for purpose and which has a physical infrastructure capable of
meeting the needs of our students, staff and visitors;

¢ To enhance the reputation and brand of The Courtauld, in order to raise awareness of the
Institute and Gallery, increasing target audiences, funding and income generation opportunities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

RESOURCES, RISKS AND RELATIONSHIPS

Introduction

The Courtauld became an independent college of the University of London in 2002. Al staff, under the
leadership of the Director and the Senior Management Team, continue to rise to the chalienges collegiate
status has brought and the Institute remains a world leader in its field.

Academic staff and their students have continued to achieve notable successes with highly regarded
publications, prestigious awards, 'visiting’ appointments and exhibitions at other world renowned galleries.
Courtauid alumni continue to be recruited for top and senior positions in museums, galleries and other
institutions throughout the world,

The Courtauid continues to receive excellent reviews for its own exhibitions, complementing the
permanent collection, which is seen as one of the most important in Britain. Most of the collection cared
for by The Courtauld Gallery is vested in the Samuel Courtauld Trust, an independent Trust.

Improvements continue to be made to the use of space in The Courtauld, and further improvements have
been made in the year. Duchy House, an Edwardian building converted to a bespoke 64-bed student
residence has been made available to new students with effect from 2010/11 and was twice over-
subscribed for its first year.

The Charities Act 2006 places an obligation on charities to demonstrate expiicitly how they provide public
benefit, whereas previously it was automatically presumed that charities advancing education provided
such benefits.

Public Benefit

In setting our objectives and planning our activities our Governors have given careful consideration to the
Charity Commission's general guidance on public benefit and in particular to its supplementary public
benefit guidance on advancing education and on fee-charging. For the 2009/10 academic year, a total of
78 scholarships were awarded to 61 students in support of tuition fees and / or maintenance costs. In
addition, the Courtauld continues to spend 25% of the additional fee income it has received from
undergraduate students since the introduction of top up fees in 2006 on student bursaries and activiies to
encourage widening access to and participation in higher education by students from less advantaged
backgrounds.

In order to ensure that no one is put off coming to The Courtauld Gallery as a result of the admission
charge, The Courtauid offers a number of concessionary tickets as well as offering free admission for
visitors under the age of 18, full-ime UK students, staff of UK universities, registered unwaged and
Friends of The Courtauld. Disabled visitors may bring in 2 helper without charge. Admission is free for all
visitors on Mondays between 10.00 am and 2:00 pm except on public holidays. In the year to 31 July
2010, 118,000 of the 173,000 visitors fo the Gallery received free or concessionary admission.

The Courtauid makes a significant contribution, via its research, teaching and other activities to both the
advancement of education and the advancement of the arts, culture, and heritage; each of which are
specific categories of charitable purposes as set out in the Charities Act 2008. Further details of how this
has been achieved are detailed below.

Research

The Courtauld’s reputation in the university and museum worids is secured uitimately by the quality of its
research contribution. At the same time, our work with students is research-ied at every level, something
which is highly vaiued by undergraduates as well as postgraduates.

Among key faculty developments, Professor Caroline Arscolt was appointed as Head of Research and
Dr. Susie Nash was promoted to Professor. Foliowing the retirement of Professor Aileen Ribeiro, Dr
Rebecca Arnold was appointed to a permanent post as Lecturer in Dress and Textiies. Professor John
House, Walter H Annenberg Professor, retired at the end of July.

Also during the year Dr Scott Nethersole was appointed to a permanent post as Leciurer in ltalian
Renaissance Art to commence in September 2010 and Elizabeth Reissner was appoinied (o a Lecturer
post in Conservation and Technology. Foilowing the departure of Dr Laura Cleaver, Dr Lucy Dankin was
appointed to the temporary Medieval Art History post. Other temparary lecturer appeintments were made
in Conservation of Wall Paintings: Charlotte Martin de Fonjaudran, Syhilta Tringham, and Horen Velson.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

The high regard in which the Institute is held as a research community is underlined by the success of our
staff and students in achieving external appointments and winning research awards. During the year:

Professor Mignon Nixon was awarded Fellowships at both the Getty Research Institute and at the
Radcliffe institute for Advanced Study for the academic year 2010-11 and accepted the latter;

Professor David Solkin was awarded a Fellowship at the Paul Mellon Centre for British Art for the
academic year 2010-11;

Dr Sarah Wilson held a fellowship at the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Paris in the
spring term 2010 and was awarded a Residency at Dora Maar House (under Brown Foundation
Fellows Program) for the academic year 2010~11;

Sharon Cather was awarded a three year AHRC/EPSRC award for a post-doctoral student in wall
painting conservation under a new scheme which is part of The Science and Heritage Programme
which takes forward recommendations made by the House of Lords Science and Technology Select
Committee report on science and herifage of November 2006 which conciuded that there was a
compelling need for a comprehensive national strategy for heritage science which coverad both
immoveable and moveable heritage.

Dr Aviva Burnstock (Conservation and Technology), Dr Caroline Campbell (The Courtauld Gallery)
and Dr Joanna Cannon (Art History) continued to lsad The Andrew W. Mellen Foundation funded
project on conservation documentation of the work by the Maestro di Figline with Dr Austin Nevin as
the Andrew W. Mellon Fellow for this project.

Dr Georgia Clarke continued as co-investigator with Dr Fabrizio Nevola of Oxford Brookes University
(principal investigator } of the AHRC Beyond Text network grant for the project; ‘Street Life and Street
Culture between early modern Europe and the present.

Dr Antony Eastmond continued as co-investigator with Dr Elizabeth James of Sussex University
(principal investigator) on the AHRC Beyond Text network grant for the project Viewing Texts: word
as image and ornament in medieval inscriptions in the Byzantine worid".

Professor John Lowden continued to lead the three year project {funded by a grant of £240,000 by
Thomson Works of Art Ltd.}, A Survey of Medieval lvories, and a funded project to digitize images of
Wall Paintings in the Conway iibrary.

Professor John Lowden continued as co-investigator with Dr Scott McKendrick (principal investigator)
on the AHRC Beyond Text three year project on the Royal Manuscripts of the British Library.

Professor David Park continued fo lead a wall painting conservation project at Ahicchatragarh Fort,
Nagaur, in coliaboration with the Mehrangarh Museum Trust, Jodphur, funded by The Getty
Foundation,

Qur research community was enhanced at pre- and post-doctoral level by the appointment of:

Dr Rebecca Farbstein as Caroline Villers Research Fellow

Dr Klara Kemp Welch as Leverhulme Early Career Fellow

Dr Wendy tkemoto as Terra Foundation for American Art Postdoctoral teaching Fellow
Stephanie Schwartz as Research Forum Andrew W Melion Eoundation Fellow

Jessica Berenbeim as Kress Institutional Fellow

Dr Francesco Lucchini as Reseach Forum Postdoctoral Fellow

® & o & & o

Major publications {other than exhibition cataiogues, which are reported beiow) by faculty, research
students and curatorial staff this year include:

e Martin Caiger-Smith: Anfony Gormley, Modern Artists series, Tate Publishing, 2 May 2010

= Sarah Wilson: The Visual World of French Theory: Figurations, Yale University Press, May
2010

= Jo Kirby, Susie Nash & Joanna Cannon (eds} Trade in Artists Materials: Markets and Commerce
in Europe to 1700, Archetype Publications Lid, 2010.

Research by faculty, curatorial staff and our research students and post-doctoral fellows reaches beyond
the professional to much wider publics through The Courtauld’s own exhibitions and through faculty
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involvement in other major exhibitions, conferences and lectfure programmes, often international in their
impact. This year's exhibition activity included:

-]

Turner and the Masters, curated by David Solkin: at Tate Britain, 23 September 2008 to 31
January 2010; Grand Palais, Paris, 22 February to 24 May, 2010 and The Museo Nacional del
Prado, Madrid, 22 June to 19 September 2010. The exhibition had outstanding reviews and
attracted over 840,000 visitors in Britain, France and Spain.

The Artist's Studio, exhibition and catalogue by Giles Waterfield: Compton Verney, 26
September — 13 December 2009 and at The Sainsbury Centre, University of East Anglia 9
February to 3 May.

Lissitzky + (three paris). Victory over the Sun; Radical Female Artists; The Dynamic Human
Figure, exhibition and catalogue by John Miiner: Band Abbemuseum, Eindhoven, 19 September
2009 to 2 September 2012.

Frank Auerbach: London Buifding Sites 1952-62,exhibition and catalogue (ed) Barnaby Wright:
The Courtauld Gallery, 16 October 2009 ~ 17 January 2010

Michelangelo’s Dream, exhibition and catalogue (ed) Stephanie Buck: The Courtauld Gallery, 18
February to 16 May, 2010, which achieved magnificent press coverage and critical acclaim and a
total of 61,878 visitors,

The Courtauld Collects: 20 years of acquisitions: curated by Ernst Vegelin The Courtauld Gallery,
17 June to 19 September 2010

Blood tears faith doubt: Historical & Contemporary encounters

Curated by students of the MA Curating Programme 2009-10: The Courtauld Gallery, 17 June to
18 July 2010

Courtauld doctoral graduates and post-doctoral fellows achieved significant successes and were
appointed to the following academic positions:

Stefania Gerevini: Two year post at the Kunsthistorisches institute in Florence.
Dr Sarah James, PhD 2008, University Lecturer at University College London

Dr Francesco Lucchini: PhD 2010, Research Forum post-doctoral Feliow 2010, two year
Leverhulme Early Career Feliowship to be heid at the Department of History of Art, University of
Warwick from April 2011.

Dr Alister Mill: ~ PhD 2010, AHRC postdoctoral fellowship at the University of Exeter.

Amarilli Rava:  MA Conservation of Wall paintings 2010: Internship 2010-11 at the Getty
Conservation Institute

Dr Meilie Naydenova-Slade: PhD 2008, Paui Melion Foundation 6 month Fellowship

Dr Glenn Sujo: PhD 2010, Wingate Foundation scholarship to fund his postdoctorai research at
The Courtauld 2010-11,

Dr Stephanie Schwartz, Andrew W Mellon MA Postdoctoral feliow 2009-10, University Lecturer at
University College, London

Dr Rachel Wells, PhD 2008, Tutor, Ruskin Scheof of Drawing and Fine Art, University of Oxford

Further examples of graduate successes in achieving emplioyment in the arts sector are evidenced by the
current employment of the 2008-8 MA Curating the Art Museum cohort;

Rebecca Lewin |, Tate Britain, Assistant Curator {cover)

Miriam Lloyd Evans, Curator/Project Manager, Edge of Arabia, Contemporary Saudi Arabian Art
Anna Harnden , British Museum/Wallace Coliection, Curatorial Assistant

Amanda Hajjar, Gagosian Gallery, New York, Gallery Assistant

Viktorya Viik, Frick Collection, Kress Fellowship in Museum Teaching, 2010/11

Caroiine New, Philadelphia Museum of Art {Development Office)

Meg Weeks, Scottish National Gallery of Modern Art, Edinburgh

Monse Pis, Museo Centre de Arte Reina Sofia Madrig, 9-month paid internship; part-time PhD,
Santiago de Compostella

Katy Marcou, Private galiery London, curatorial pesition

Alice Tunmore, Position in marketing
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The Research Forum

The Research Forum sits at the heart of the Courtauid Institute and has developed activities with
members of the Academic Staff in Art History, Conservation Departments, Courtauld Gallery,
Development , Libraries and Public Programmes. It provides an exceptionally productive, lively research
environment for The Courtauld’s students and offers unrivalied opportunities for conference convening,
research group participation and publishing for the doctoral and pestdoctoral community here. The
autumn term 2009 saw the launch of immediations vol. 2, no. 2 (December) and of a volume of essays
immediations Conference Papers no. 1, Art and Nature: Studies in Medieval At and Architecture
(November). The Head of Research is the local editor for the newly-launched online journal for the
Research Institutes in the History of Art (RIHA) The First Annuat RIHA Lecture was given by Dr. Peter
Stewart {The Courtauld Institute of Art) on Geographies of Provincialism in Roman Sculpture (February).

Additionally the Research Forum forms a bridge into the wider academic community drawing in
participants from the art history worid locally, nationalty and internationally. We have had a number of
distinguished visiting scholars coming to join our research community in the Research Forum in the past
year. In 2009-10 the Research Forum hosted Dr. Holm Bevers (Kupferstichkabinett, Staatliche Museen
zu Bertin) as Visiting Curator; Maicolm Bull as Mellon MA Visiting Professor teaching and sharing his
research on ‘The Political in Globalised Contemporary Art; Christy Anderson (Department of Art,
University of Toronto} as Visiting Professor on Gernsheim; Jonathan Katz {Associate Professor and
Chair, Visual Studies Doctoral Program, University at Buffalo), as Terre Professor of American Art
teaching and giving an insight into his work on Eros and the 1960s. Speakers in the Research Forum
have included Dmitry Gutov (artist, October), Rebecca Farbstein (Caroline Villers Research, October);
Martin Harrison (art historian and curator, December) Dr Kathryn M Rudy {Caroline Villers Associate
Fellow, January); Michae! R. Taylor (The Muriel and Philip Berman Curator of Modern Art, Philadeiphia
Museum of Art, February), Barbara Drake Boehm (Curator, Department of Medieval Art and The
Cloisters, The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, March); Vitaly Komar (artist, April}; Julian Gardner
(Emeritus Professor of the History of Art, University of Warwick, May); Martin Kemp (University of Oxford,
May) and Pascal Cotte (Directeur de recherche scientifique, Lumiere Technology S.A.S, May); Dr
Sethuraman Suresh (Indian National Trust for Art and Cultural Heritage (INTACH, May); David Cohen
(Gallery Director, New York Studio School, and Publisher, artcritical.com, May); Judith Clark (London
Coliege of Fashion) and Adam Phillips (psychoanalyst and writer, June).

2009-10 saw the launch of two new research Groups; The Material Life of Things with a total of 20
participants from departments of art history and museums woridwide working on the shifting relationship
between artefacts, people and environments throughout the life history of particular objects or classes of
objects;, and PULSATIONS MODELLING working on ideas of representation and scientific modelling in
collaboration with the California Institute of Technology.

Conference, colloquia and workshop subjects included: Simple Weave Automated Thread Counting from
x-Rays of Paintings on Canvas (September); Beyond Text: Sight and Sound on the Sirset {October);
Modernity's Cultural Politics: China in Context {October); Photo Archives and the Photographic Memory of
Art History — Part Il {Octeber); imaging Dogma, Picturing Belief: Late-Medieval Mural Painting in Parish
Churches across Europe (November}, Conference in Honour of Jennifer Fietcher {November); Writing Art
History: Reading and Writing (November), Everyday Objects: Art and Experience in Early Modern Europe
(November), Medieval Art in Theory: Framing the Middle Ages: Concepts of the Frame in Medieval Art
and Architecture {(November}), Surrealism, Post-War Theory and the Avant-Garde (November); 'Gothic’
and its Legacies (December) Viewing Text: Word as Image and Ornament in Medieval Inscriptions
(January), Past Histories & Afterlives of Medieval Art and Architecture (February), Looking Like:
Mimesis/imitatio in the Art and Architecture of the Middie Ages (March); Identities in Time (Marcn). Our
collaborators and funding partners for these events included the AHRC for Several Beyond Text projects,
the Kunsthistorisches Institut Florenz, The Peter Fuller Memorial Foundation, and individuals from a
number of art history departments and Museums and Galleries.

An ambitious autumn term Frank Davis lecture series Globalisation and Contemporary Art was organised
by Julian Stallabrass and Visiting Professor Maicolm Bull to coincide with their MA. Speakers inciuded: T
J Demos (University College London); Malcolm Bull (Ruskin Schoo! of Drawing and Fine Art, University of
Oxford); Coco Fusco (artist, writer, and Parsons The New Schoo! for Design, New York); Adam
Broomberg and Oliver Chanarin (artists); Anne M Wagner (University of California, Berkeley). The Spring
Term Friends Lecture Series was Conservation in Focus, organised by the Conservation of Wall Painting
and Conservation & Technology Departments and included Lorinda Wong (Project Specialist, the Getty
Conservation Institute); Pia Gottschaller (German Academy Villa Massimo, Rome); Elke Oberthaler

(Head of Conservation, Kunsthistorisches Museum Vienna), Giovanni Verri (Mellon Fellow, British
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Museum), Margriet van Eikema Hommes (instituut Collectie Nederland and University of Amsterdam);
David Saunders (Keeper of Conservation and Scientific Research, British Museum).

Exhibiting Research Il and lll: Delivering the Message (October and March) were policy debates,
organised by the MA Programme ‘Curating the Art Museum’ in coliaboration with the Research Forum, to
examine the way in which galleries and museums deal with the relationship batween research, exhibitions
and their public. Research Associates worked on a Courtauld Collections project entitted Objects in
Focus. Courtauld graduate students Sarah Laurence Goodwin, Sam Lake, Sam Rose and Eileen Rubery
conceived and instalied two themed displays for the Courtauld Galiery in collabaration with Dr Alexandra
Gerstein, Curator for Sculpture and Decorative Arts (May) and produced Gallery-based and Web-based
interpretative texts. Our Postdoctoral Fellow Stephanie Schwartz organized a fiilm series to tie in with a
third year BA course Cine Cubano: The Revolution and Film.

We are extremely grateful to the Andrew W. Melion Foundation for their continued funding of the
Research Forum and to the Terra Foundation for making possible the visits of our Terra Professor and
Terra Postdoctoral Feflow,

Witt and Conway Libraries

Foliowing the restruciuring of the Witt and Conway Libraries during the summer of 2009, the Libraries re-
opened to the public in November 2008, The Governing Board continues to maintain a high degree of
interest in the future of these libraries and talks with potential supporters are ongoing.

Students and teaching

We continue to recruit high calibre students and to make every effort to increase the diversity of the
student community,

Student numbers in 2009/10 were as foliows: There were 105 overseas students (2008/09: 93) and 361
home and EU students (2008/09: 332) on full or part-time undergraduate or postgraduate courses. 10
(2008/09: 8) students enrolled on the IES Study Abroad programme. The balance beiween the different
programmes continued to favour postgraduate programmes; 152 (2008/09: 165) students being
registered for the BA in the History of Art, 165 (2008/09: 162) for taught postgraduate programmes, and
93 (2008/09: §8) for full-ime research degrees.

Qur examination results were strong. 45 students entered and passed the BA in the History of Art first-
year examinations (2008/09: 50 entered and passed); 57 students entered and passed the BA second-
year (2008/09 52 entered and passed); and 51 students entered and passed the BA third-year (2008/09:
58 entered and passed). 14 students entered and passed the Courtauld Graduate Ciploma in the History
of Art (2008/09:. 4 entered and passed). 121 (2008/08: 118) entered the MA in the History of Ar
Programme, of whom 112 (2008/09: 117) completed and passed the examination in June. 11 {2008/09:
11) entered the MA in Curating the Art Museum Programme, of whom 11 (2008/09: 11) completed and
passed the examination in September. There were 5 students on each of the 3 years of the Postgraduate
Diploma in the Conservation of Easel Paintings course, and 4 candidates successfully completed the 3rd
year of the three-year Wall Paintings Conservation MA, graduating in July (2008/09: 5 completed the 2nd
year}). 11 candidates (2008/09: 9) were awarded BA degrees with first-ciass honours, 29 (2008/09: 31)
achieved the MA with a Distinction and 16 candidates (2008/09: 19) were awarded a PhD.

The fees that the Institute charges to UK undergraduate students will rise to £3,290 in the year 2010/11 in
line with the government's variable fees policy. The Institute’s Access agreement with the Office for Fair
Access (OFFA} details the Institute’s range of undergraduate bursaries designed to make university study
possible for those otherwise unable to attend due to financial constraints.

We are aiso concerned to maintain our recruitment strengths internationally and the Institute has ensured
compliance with requirements concerning students with US loans. The Study Abroad Programme
continues to grow through collaborative schemes such as the IES and a consortium of universities
including Boston, Brown, Cornell and Pennsylvania. A Marshall-Courtauld scholarship recipient was
recruited for the MA in Curating, and the Institute succeeded in raising additional scholarship funding for
US students from the Fulbright Commission and other trusts and foundations.

Student life and student needs extend beyond purely academic concerns. The Institute continued to offer
accommadation for students in the refurbished Strand Continental Hotel, only moments away from
Somerset House during 2008/10, when this accommodation, managed by the Institute, was home to 26
students studying a variety of History of Art programmes. During 2008/09, the institute entered into a long
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lease with the Duchy of Lancaster for the provision of a further 67 student rooms in Duchy House, equally
close to Somerset House. The building was refurbished to the Institute’s specifications and work was
completed in Spring 2010. The rooms were then used as residential accommeodation for students of the
Institute’s summer schools in July and August 2010 and will take on a full complement of new students for
the start of the 2010/11 academic year.

The strength of our teaching lies in its specialist depth and its scope. We offer courses taught by leading
specialists at every ieve!, undergraduate and postgraduate, ranging from Antiquity to the 21 Century.
Nevertheless, we continue to welcome innovative change in our programmes and course, and look to
expand our offer where we can. The second year of the new twelve month MA course in Curating the Art
Museum recruited 11 students, who as part of the course curated an exhibition entitled: Once Upon a
Time: Arlists and Storytefling, in the Embankment Galleries, Somerset House.

Public Programmes

Our ambiticus and stimulating art history short courses, talks and events aim fo make The Courtauld
institute of Art's scholarly expertise and the wealth of the Courtauld Galiery's collections accessible to the
wider public. Courses and events are led by art historians and by experienced artists. A wide variety of
events and activities including regular Junch time ftatks in The Courtauld Gallery, evening weekday
lectures, spring and summer schools, and study tours o various locations led by experts in their field
provide a wealth of opportunities for members of the public to learn about art and art history and to
engage with The Courtauld throughout the year.

The Courtauld Public Programmes department also works with local schools, coileges and community
groups to offer a variety of experiences and opportunities for young people outside of formal education.
We aim to engage students with the research and academic thinking that personifies The Courtauld
Institute of Art. The department also delivers Continuing Professional Development (CPD) to Primary,
Secondary and Special School teachers from across the UK and will continue to develop new ways to
support teachers in the future.

The Courtauld Gallery

The Galiery was part-funded by a grant from the Arts and Humanities Research Council under its
Museumns and Galieries Core Funding Scheme until July 2008, when the funding was moved to the
Higher Education Funding Council for Engiand (HEFCE) initiaily for a period on one year, during which
time HEFCE conducted a review into the future of Museum and Galleries funding. As a result of that
review, funding was confirmed for a period of at least one more year.

Exhibitions: During 2009/10 the Gallery continued its distinctive programme of highly focused research
led temporary exhibitions. The full programme included: Beyond Bloomsbury: Designs of The Omega
Worksheops 1913-15 (18 June — 20 September 2009); Frank Auerbach: London Building Sites 1952 —
1862 (16 October 2009 — 17 January 2010}, Michelangelo's Dream (18 February — 16 May 2010) and The
Courtauld Collects: 20 years of acquisition {17 June — 19 September 2010). Overall attendance numbers
during the year were 173,000. The Michelangelo exhibition, in particuiar, was a landmark for the Galiery.

The programme for 2010/11 was aliso finalised —Cezanne's Card Players (21 October 2010 - 16 January
2011} organised with the Metropalitan Museum of Art, New York which will host the exhibition after it
leaves the Courtauld; Victorian Drawings and Watercolours from The Courtauld (17 February — 15 May
2611) organised in coliaboration with the University of Bristol; and Toulouse Lautrec and Jane Avril (16
June — 18 September 2011}, Additionally, an exhibition staged by The Courtauld’s Youth Council is
planned for February 2011 as part of the London Olympics Stories of the World programme.

The Gatlery exhibition programme, detailed above, is intended to attract a strong audience while adhering
to our policy of focused scholarly exhibitions.

Admission to the Gallery was priced at £5 for adults with £4 concessions for visitors over the age of 60,
part-time ang international students throughout the year, increasing to £6 with £4.50 concessions in
September 2010, Free admission is available for visitors under the age of 18, full-time UK students, staff
of UK universities, registered unwaged and Friends of The Courtauld. Disablied visitors may bring in a
helper without charge. Admission is free for ail visitors on Mondays between 10.00 am and 2:00 pm
except on public holidays. The admission charge includes entrance to the permanent collection as well as
all temporary exhibitions and displays.
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Loans

The Gallery supported a range of exhibitions nationally and internationally with loans of works in its care:
63 new Joans were made to 30 exhibitions In 11 countries. These included major exhibitions at the
Louvre, the J. Paui Getty Museum, the V&A, The National Art Centre, Tokyo, and many others. The
Gallery also arranged several other loans of work in its care belonging to third parties.

Collections development

The collection in the care of the Gallery has continued to grow through acquisitions, gifts and bequests.
Of special note were the gift of two watercolours by Frederick Walker presented by Diana Mallinson;
Peter Lely's Portrait of @ Woman and a bronze by Edgar Degas presented by the AlL Scheme, and a
selection of prints published by the Paragon Press presented by Charles Booth-Clibborn.

There continues to be an active programme of academic exchanges including symposia, lectures and
conferences, as well as the highly successful visiting curator scheme.

Fundraising

Despite the tough economic conditions in which the Institute, in common with other HEls has operated
during the past year, annual fundraising coniinues to make a significant contribution to the institute’s
financial health. Donations from individuals have increased in comparison with the previaus financial year,
as has scholarship funding and gifts to the endowment fund. The three year HEFCE Matched funding
scheme has been a valuabie ool in assisting the Institute in its fundraising objectives over the year.
Having successiully applied to tier 3 of the scheme, the potential exists fo realise £2.75m in matched
funding over the three year period to 31 July 2011. The ciaim for the year under review is due to be
finalised in November 2010, and an accrual for £888,000 is included in these financial statements
bringing the total claim for the first two years to £1.608m of which £262,000 has been received to date.

Financial position

The Courtauld institute of Art is @ small, specialist arfs institution operating in a higher education sector
where the level of public funding is decreasing. The funding model has favoured large institutions that can
detiver maximum economies of scale. The Courtauld’s fotal expenditure has increased by just 7% in cash
terms since 2003, during which time non staff costs have been reduced by over 12%. in that time the
number of academic staff has increased by 24% while maintaining overall staff numbers at a constant
level, Ut is therefore becoming increasingly difficult to reduce expenditure further fo counter the effect of
reductions in funding without damaging core services. Nonetheless, we are continuing to take action
wherever possible to increase our effectiveness and to develop our income streams to help ameliorate
the known and anticipated funding cuts.

The group results for 2009/10 as contained in these financial statemenis show a surplus of £528,000
{(2008/09: deficit of £479,000). Included in this result is the outcome for the Institute itself, a surplus of
£532,000 (2008/09: deficit of £485,000}. In operational terms, the group surplus is in fact £695,000
(2008/09: a deficit of £180,000) of which £699,000 relates to the Institute, The difference between the
operational deficit and that recorded in these financial statements is the resull of the freatment of
transfers to and from fixed asset investments as required by the Statement of Recommeanded Practice:
accounting for further and higher education (*SORP”). The improved performance year on year is the
result of a number of different factors, including growth in tuition fees, philanthropic and commercial
income as well as further reductions in the cost base and the return to growth of the Institute's
endowment and investment portfolio.

Longer term prospecis

As in all HE institutions we are acutely aware of the impact of Lord Browne's review Securing a
sustainable future for higher education: an independent review of higher education funding and student
finance, the fikely scale of impending funding cuts via the CSR and the changes the cuts will bring to the
sector. We are continuing to model the potential impact of various scenarios and with our plans for
expansion and diversification as ouflined below, we remain confident ihat we can mest head on the
challenges we will face over the next few years.

The Senior Management Team has rigidly maintained its focus on the development and implementation
of strategy while ensuring that all system, process and other management issues are dealt with in a way
that continues to deliver improvements in operational and financial effectiveness.

8




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

In addition, senior management are continuing to maximise the potential of existing activities and to
explore further complementary areas of income generation, and have identified a number of areas over
and above those included in the medium term financial projections for further investigation. Updates on
progress towards achieving targets in these areas are presented {o the Finance Committee and
Governing Board ai each meeting, and the results incorporated into future forecasts as and when the
abitity to deliver on them becomes more certain. The Governing Board remains satisfied as to both the
short and long term financial sustainability of the Institute.

invesiment policy and performance

The Courtauld Institute Investment Cormmittee is responsibie for oversight of the Endowment. The
Commitiee establishes investment objectives, asset allocation policy, and investment strategies for each
asset class within the portfolio. Overail investment objectives and goals are achieved by use of a
diversified portfolio consistent with The Courtauld's return goals and risk tolerance. The Committee has
devetoped an asset allocation strategy which sets minimum and maximum allocations for each asset
class, a target asset aliocation, and specifies benchmarks against which the performance of each asset
category can be judged. While the investment horizon of The Courtauld is long-term, asset aliccation is
discussed at every meeting of the Committee and formally reviewed at least every year or as a significant
change in The Courtalid’s operations or financial condition may require.

The primary function of the Endowment is to provide enduring support for the academic mission of The
Courtauld by releasing a substantial and reliable fiow of funds to the operating budget, unless such a flow
is not temporarily required. Maintaining the purchasing power of the Endowment to provide sustained
programme support requires a disciplined spending policy to balance the demands of the present against
the claims of the future. The Courtauld’s spending rule uses a long-term spending rate combined with a
smoacthing rule that adjusts gradually to changes in Endowrment market value.

The Courtauld retains external investment managers who have demonstrated skill in a particular asset
class. Invesiment discretion is delegated to each manager, subject to this investment policy and any
other written investment guidelines that the Committee may establish for a manager. A variety of
management styles and investment vehicles are utilised as appropriate. In addition to active
management, passive management may be used in asset classes where market efficiency is sufficiently
high, such that active management is untikely to result in added vaiue. No more than 5% of the fund is
invested in any one company, nor is more than 20% assigned fo any one manager. The Courtauid retains
the services of an advisor, Cambridge Associates, who have vast experience in the handiing of
Universities’ and foundations’ porifolios.

During the course of the year, The Courtauld’s investments recovered much of the loss suffered aver the
previous two years, increasing in value by a littie more than 10% during the year, after adjusting for new
endowments and releases. Between the Balance Sheet date and 30 September 2010 the fund increased
in value by a further £1.2m, a littie under 4.8% on the vaiuation at 31 July 2010,

Property issues

The Courtauid occupies the north biock of Somerset House which includes extensive basements,
extending under the north terrace of the Courtyard. The buildings date from around 1780 and are Grade 1
listed. The accommodation is held on long lease from Somerset House Trust which manages the whole
of Semerset House.

The Estates Committee, chaired by Sir Angus Stirling, met three times during the course of this year.

During 2008/G9, i became clear that, despite extensive negotiations, the Institute would not be able to
acquire additional permanent space within Somerset House in the short or medium term, although an
option exists in the longer term for permanent use of some or all of King’s College buildings contiguous
with the North Biock. A high level feasibiiity study and options appraisal is currently underway to assess
the benefits this building could bring for The Courtauld. This study will include a review of the impact on
utilisation of space within the current building, where a series of space reorganisations has already taken
place, leading to greater effectiveness in utilising the limited space available. Temporary use of additional
space within Somerset House may also be an option. In addition, further improvements have been made
1o our public and student facilities.

Student accommodation

As has been described eisewhere, during 2008/09, the Institute entered into a fong lease with the Duchy
of Lancaster for the provision in Duchy House, situated within a very short walk of Somerset House, for
64 student rooms. In addition, the Courtauld is abie to offer a number of rooms in University of London
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Intercollegiate Halls. The abifity to offer such accommodation is of strategic importance, because the lack
of such facilities can impact negatively on recruitment and might detract from the student experience. The
building has been refurbished to the Institute's specifications and is now open. This accommaodation will
be used exclusively by the student body between October and early July each year. During the summer it
will remain avaitable for all students, including the participants in the Summer Schools programme, as
well as for wider academic and other use.

The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing these financiat statements were:

Nicholas Ferguson (Chairman)
Professor Caroline Arscoit

Dr Michael Brand {to July 2010)
Sharon Cather

Professor Geoffrey Crossick

Sir Nichotas Goodison {to July 2010)
James Hughes-Hallett

Dr Martin Halusa

Antony Hopking

Andrew Jones (to April 2010)
Daisy Jones (appointed July 2010)
Dr David Landau

Daniella Luxembourg

Dr Nicholas Penny

Dr Neif Rudenstine

Anna Somers-Cox

Dr Christine Stevensaon

Sir Angus Stirling

Professor Deborah Swallow {The Director)
Joff Whitten

James N Wood {to June 2010)

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
There were no political or charitable contributions in the year (2008/09 - nif).
Serious Incidents

The Institute is aware of guidance and the need to report serious incidents arising since 1 June 2010 to
HEFCE. There have been no such reportable incidents since that date.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware; and
each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to estabiish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Auditors:

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and
KPMG LLP wii therefore continue in offica.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards Board’s 'Reporting
Statement: Operating and Financiat Review' (January 2006).

Approved by the Board of Directors
and signed on behalf of the Board

Terry Hefford

Company Secretary
10




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Courtauld’s Principles of Governance

The Governing Board formaliy reviewed the CUC Govemance Code of Practice, November 2004, at ifs
meeting in July 2009 and confirmed its commitment to the Ceode, subject to a number of departures from
the Guide, which are fully justifiable. The major ones are identified beiow, with the reasons —

the Governing Board meets formally three times a year (CUC guidance is four). The institute
finds that one Board meeting a term continues to work particularly well because of the commiitee
system in place and because individual Governors have frequent interaction and dialogue with
Institte officers between Board and Committee meetings. In addition to the three formal
meetings each year, the Board have an annual away day which considers a single issue in much
greater detail than would otherwise be possible at a general meeting.

The normal maximum terms of office are two terms of five years (CUC guidance is three terms of
three years). The longer terms of office are helpful to the Institute, given the specialist nature of
its work and the need to source and retain Governors with specific expertise.

Board vacancies are not currently widely publicised (as recommended by CUC guidance).
Advertising will be considered where and when appropriate but, at this stage in the Institute’s
evolution, potential new Governors are identified from current contacts, existing Courtauld
supporters or by personal knowledge. Preliminary recommendations are then considered by the
Nominations Committee before being submitted to the Board for formal approval. Staff Governors
are selected from staff nominations by staff votes.

The Institute’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association are its equivalent to Standing Orders.
The Memorandum is currently being reviewed and changed; once this process is complete, a
summary will be made available on the website.

The Governing Board does not consider ‘terms of appointment’ and ‘undertakings that Governors
will act responsibly’ to be appropriate. The expectation that all Governors will act responsibly is
innerent in the Statement of Primary Responsibiiities.

A Statement of Primary Responsibilities was adopted at the Governing Board meeting on 18 November
2009 and is produced below,
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

The following information is given to assist readers of the financial statements in obtaining an
understanding of the governance procedures applied by the Board.

The Courtauld is committed to following best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. This
summary describes the manner in which The Courtauld has applied the principles set out in the HEFCE
Audit Code of Practice. {is purpose is to help the reader of the accounts understand how the principies
have been applied.

The Courtauid’'s Governing Board is ultimately responsible for The Courtauld’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on a developing process designed:

e loidentify the principal risks to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives;
e to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks; and

& to manage them effectively, efficiently and economically.

The systern of internal control is designed to manage rather than efiminate the risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.

The Governing Board meets three times a year and has several sub-commitiees which are as follows:
Academic Board, Academic Promotions Committee, Audit Committee, Estates Commitiee, Finance
Committee, Galleries and Academic Committee, Monorary Degrees and Titles Committee, Investments
Committee, Nominations Committee, Remuneration Committee, and Resources Fundraising & Alumni
Committee. All of these Committees are formally constituted with terms of reference. In all cases, the
majority of the membership is lay and each of the Commitiees has a lay chair. In addition to the above, a
Communications Committee is currently being estabiished,

The current Chairman of the Board will retire in 2012 and a special commitiee of the board has been
established to assist in the selection of his successor.

The Academic Board is the institute body set up in accordance with Article 19 of the Articles of
Association of the Courtauld Institute of Art. Subject to the responsibilities of the Governing Board and of
the Director, the Academic Board shall be responsible for the following matiers, having regard at all times
to the educational character and objectives of the Courtauld as determined by the Governing Board:

® those relating to the teaching, courses, scholarship and research of the Courtauld: and

® those relating to the development of the academic activities of the Courtauld and the resources
needed for them and advising the Director and the Governing Board thereon.

The Academic Promotions Committee meets twice a year and is responsible for the consideration of
applications for promotion by Academic staff and recommendation to the Governing Board for the
approval of any such promotions they consider to be aporopriate.

The Audit Committee meets twice a year. The internal auditors and the external auditors attend every
meeting and following the meeting which considers the annual accounts the externa! auditors hold a
private discussion with the members of the Committee, all of whom are lay, in ihe absence of the officers.

The Estates Committee meets three times a year and is responsible for oversight of the existing
buildings, the creation of an Estates Sirategy and evaluation of opportunities to develop or reconfigure the
esiate.

The Finance Commitiee meets three times a year and is responsible to the Governing Board for the
financial management of The Courtauld. It advises the Board of Governors on all financial matters, in
particular the annual estimates and accounts, matiers regarding the strategic plan and the financial
forecasts; and on risks to the sirategic plan; and other general issues.

The Galieries and Academic Committee meets three times a year and deals on the Governing Board’s
behalf with matters referred to the Board from the academic activities of the {nstitute and with the Gallery
and the relationship with the Samuel Courtauld Trust.

The Honorary Degrees and Titles Commitiee meets annually to request, collect and consider nominations
for the award of an Honorary Degree by the Courtauld Institute of Art; to request, coliect and consider
nominations for Honorary Fellows and Emeritus Professorships and to send suitabie recormmendations
for all such awards to the Governing Board for approval.
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL {continued)

The investments Commitiee meets three times & year and is responsibie for the general strategy and
policy on investments held or made by or on behaif of The Courtauid and deals with all matters relating to
the implementation of such strategy and policy. it reviews the investment strategy, policy and
performance at least annually, and it appoints any investment advisers and managers on such terms as
the Committee shall think fit.

The Remuneration Comrmitiee meets at least once a year and considers and recommends the salaries of
all existing professorial staff and other staff on equivalent grades; and receives reports on salaries of
members of staff newly-appointed or promoted to this level. It considers and determines the honoraria of
senjor academic office holders. It reports to the Governing Board on policy matters relating to senior
salaries and it keeps under review policies for severance payments for professorial and equivalent staff.
It recommends the salary of the Director and the Director of Resources {Company Secretary).

The Nominations Commitiee meets at least annually. Its role is to recommend criteria to the Governing
Board, for selection and de-selection to the full range of lay and honorific appointments within The
Courtauld on the conditions under which such appointments might be held; and to search for those whom
the Board might wish to appoeint to: lay governorship, lay chairmanships and lay membership of Courtauld
committees and other bodies; and such other grades of lay or honorific appointment as the Board may
wish from time to time to establish (except those appointed via the Academic Board or Students’ Unicn).

The Resources, Fundraising and Alumni Committee meets three times a year and is largely concerned
with fund raising.

13




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Risk

The Governing Board formally accepted responsibility for the system of internal controt at its
Juty 2004 meeting and took steps to ensure that its risk management strategy was effective
throughout the Institute and that from 1 August 2004 the Institute was fully compliant with
HEFCE’s requirements relating to risk.

During the year, the Governing Board has {aken the foliowing actions in relation to this:

& maintained a risk management policy for the Institute, setting out principles, processes,
responsibilities and key risk areas;

e ' reviewed the strategic risk register, setling out key risks and how they are to be
managed,

& received reports from the Audit Commitiee on the implementation and development of
risk management;

e given executive responsibility for managing risk to the Direcior and the senior
management team;

® considered the actions taken to manage the most serious physical risks identified; and

s set in motion a review of the way risk is assessed, to ensure there is consistency in the
level of risk assessed, among risks having the same probabitity/impact assessment.

The risk pelicy sets out a clear framework for

¢ identifying and assessing risks, as part of the corporate planning process;
&  monitoring the management of risks; and

& reviewing the process.

The Director of Resources is required to report regularly to the Audit Commitiee and the
Governing Board about the process.

in order to get the maximum benefit from the risk management process, the institute requires,
as part of the planning process, active risk management not only at the corporate level but
also at the operational level.

The Institute’s risk register is being reviewed as part of the review of corporate sirategy, which
is expected to be completed during 2011.

As part of the risk management process, management consider the gross risk (i.e. the
likelihood of a pariicular event taking place and the impact on the Institute of that event before
taking account of any actions or controls that may be in place, or could be put in place, to
manage and mitigate the identified risk) and the net risk (i.e. the likelihood and impact of an
event after taking account of the actions and controls in place to prevent that event) for ail
risks identified as posing a significant threat to the future of the Institute and report on these to
the Audit Committee at each meeting.

The three risks which are currently considered to be significant at the net risk level are:

1. The risk of failing to perform at the highest level in the next REF review

The results of the iast RAE review were excellent from an academic viewpoint but,
due fo the decision to award research performance 'wherever # was found in the
sector’, HEFCE research funds were stretched in a number of ways and the financial
reward for the RAE for The Courtauld was considerably lower than under the
previous arrangements for a similar research performance.

Action taken: A new research strategy is being developed, designed to maximise
The Courtauid's research performance in all aspects of research and research-
related income streams.
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued}
2. Changes in Government/HEFCE funding

The fact that The Courtauld teaches a single subject in a small, specialist institution
makes it vuinerable to re-allocations of funding among subject areas. Furthermore,
announcements from HEFCE and Government, most recently in the Browne Report
and the Comprehensive Spending Review, state that such re-allocations will favour
science and maths subjects.

Agreed action:

o The impacts of the Browne Report and the CSR are being assessed. The
Courtauld has confirmed to HEFCE that it is following a robust strategy for
the development of its activities, which assumes significant changes to its
funding profile at the levels intimated by these recent announcemenis.

o We wifl continue to keep in close contact with HEFCE and up to date with all
funding developments to ensure that HEFCE are aware of the effect that any
propased changes would have on us.

® We wili continue to improve financial and other modsliing and to develop our
marketing expertise so that we can accurately assess the impact of changes
and take steps well in advance to deal with it.

3. Failure to meet fundraising targets

The unpredictable nature of fundraising generally is exacerbated by the world economic
situation, although 2009/10 was an excellent year for The Courtauld.

The funding programme continues to be given very high priority at Board level and at
every level below.

Agreed action: To continue developing, refining and implementing a coherent
development strategy and fundraising campaign fit to dea? with the current
circumstances and the post-HEFCE matched funding initiative.
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STATEMENT OF PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNING BOARD

The primary responsibilities of the Governing Board are derived from the Financial
Memorandum with HEFCE dated June 2008 and Memorandum and Articles of Association of
The Courtauld Institute of Art. They are:

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financiai year.
Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statementis unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the staie of
affairs of the company and of the profit or foss of the company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the direciors are required io:

select suilable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inappropriate to
presume that the Insfitfute will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and expiain the company’s transactions and disciose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial
- statements comply with the Companies Act 2008. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irreguiarities.

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Board, as directors of The Courtauld Institute
of Art, are responsible for the adminisiration and management of the Institute and are
required to present audited financial statements for each financial year.

In addition, the terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum between the Higher
E=ducation Funding Council for Engiand and the Board of the Institute, through its designated
officer, require the institute to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Institute and of the surplus or deficit and
cash flows for that year. The designated officer for this purpose is the Director.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that income from the Higher Education Funding
Councit for England and grants and income for specific purposes and from other restricted
funds administered by the Institute are applied for the purposes for which they were received
to ensure that income has been applied, where appropriate, in accordance with the Financial
Memorandum with the Higher Education Funding Councii for England.

The directors are also responsible for:

1. approving and measuring progress on achieving the mission and strategy of The
Courtauld institute of Art, its long-term academic and business pians and establishing
and reviewing high-leve! key performance indicators (KPIs).

2. delegating authority o the Director of the Institute for the academic, corporate,
financial, estate and human resources management of the Iinstitute: and for
establishing and keeping under regular review the policies and procedures for,
including any limits to be applied to, the exercise of such management functions as
shall be undertaken by and under the authority of the Director.
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STATEMENT OF PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNING BOARD
{continued)

3. ensuring the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountahility,
including financial and operational controls and risk assessment and management,
and procedures for handling internal grievances and for managing conflicts of
interest.

4. ensuring that processes are in place to manitor and evaiuate the performance and
effectiveness of the Institute against plans and KPls,

5. establishing processes to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of
the Board of Governors itseif.

8. conducting its business in accordance with best practice in higher education
corporaie governance and with the principles of public fife drawn up by the
Committee on Standards in Public L¥e.

7. safeguarding the good name and vaiues of the Institute,

8. appointing the Chairmen of the Governing Board and its sub-committees in
accordance with the terms of office estabiished in the Memorandum.

9. appointing the Director of The Courtauld Institute of Art

10. making such provision as it sees fit for the general weifare of the Institute’s students,
in consultation as appropriate with the Academic Board,

11. ensuring the institute’s Memorandum and Articles of Association are followed at all
times and that appropriate advice is available to enable this to happen.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS OF COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

Woe have audited the financial statements of The Courtauld institute of Art for the year ended
31 July 2010 which comprise the Consolidated income and Expenditure Account, the
Consolidated and Institute Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses and the related notes. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable jaw and
UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solety to the Board of Governors (the Directors} of the Institute, as a body,
in accordance with the Statutes of the Institute and Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Board of Governors
those matters we are required to state 1o it in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Board, for our audit wark, for this report, or for the opinions we have farmed,

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As expiained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on page 17, the Board of
Governors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and lIreland). Those auditing standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's {APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounis and disclosures in the financial
staiements sufficient to give reasonable assurance thai the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's and the Institute's
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adeguately disclosed; the
reasonabieness of significant accounting estimates made by the direciors; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements. |t also includes those audit matters specified within
the Audit Code of Practice issued by the Migher Education Funding Council for England.

Opinion on financial statements
fri our opinion:

= the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and the
parent company's affairs as at 31 July 2010 and of the Group's surplus of income
over expenditure for the year then ended;

= the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
Generally Accepied Accounting Practice; and

= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher
Education and the Companies Act 2008.

Opinion on regularity matters

= in all material respects, income from the Higher Education Funding Council for
England, grants and income for specific purposes and from other restricted funds
administered by the Institute during the year ended 31 July 2010 have been appiied
for the purposes for which they were received; and

* in all material respects, income during the year ended 31 July 2010 has been applied
in accordance with the Instifute’s statutes and, where appropriate, with the Financial
Memorandum with the Higher Education Funding Coungil for England.
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DIRECTORS OF COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Director’s Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements,

Neil Thomas {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

&2, 1. ABID
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Year ended 31 July 2010

INCOME

Funding Council grants

Tuition fees and education contracts
Research grants and contracts
Other income

Endowment and investment income

TOTAL INCOME

EXPENDITURE

Staff costs

Other operating expenses
Depreciation

Interest payable

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

SURPLUS /{DEFICIT) ON CONTINUING

OPERATICNS

Transfer {to)/ from accumulated income within

endowments

NET MOVEMENT IN RESERVES

Note

DO AW

12
10

24

Year ended Year ended
31 July 2010 31 July 2009
£000 £'000
4,391 3,462
2,085 1,904
820 1,656
3,228 2,861
1,360 548
11,884 10,431
5,848 5,730
4,892 5,093
444 439
4 20
11,188 11,282
695 {851)
(167} 372
528 (479)

The income and expenditure account is in respect of continuing operations
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STATEMENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS & LOSSES

Year ended 31 July 2010

Year ended Year ended
Note 31 July 2010 317 July 2009
£'000 £'000
Surplus/ (Deficit) on continuing operations 695 (851)
after depreciation on fixed assets
Total Returns on fixed asset investments 14 860 (974)
Total Returns on fixed asset investments 14 {354) (158)
released in the year
Total Returns on endowment asset 15 2,169 (2,391)
investments
Total Returns on endowments released in the 15 (1,003) (386)
year
New endowments 23 1,120 631
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS/ (LOSSES) 3.487 {4,129)
Reconciliation
Opening reserves and endowments 21,485 25614
Total recognised gains/ {losses) 3,487 {4,129)
Closing reserves and endowments 24,872 21.485
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INSTITUTE BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 July 2010

FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets
Tangible assets

investments

ENDOWMENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one
year

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

NET ASSETS

DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

ENDOWMENTS
Permanent Restricted
Permanent Unrestricted
Expendable Restricted

TOTAL ENDOWMENTS

RESERVES
General reserve
Restricted reserves
Revaluation reserve
TOTAL

MNote

1
12
14

15

16
17

18

19

21

22

23
23
23

24
243
24b

2010 2009
£'000 £'000
(115) (179)

3,281 3,400
6,951 6,183
10,117 9,404
18,285 15,832
2,307 1,304
1,185 1,288
3,492 2,592

(3,711) (3.538)
(219) (946)

28,183 24,290

(91) (121)
(1,287) (1,089)
26,805 23,080

1,857 1,623
3,797 3,186
10,186 8,741
4,302 3,805
18,285 15,832
6,003 5,524
94 41

566 60
26,805 23,080

The financial statements of the Courtauid institute of Art, registered number 04464432, were approved
by the governing body on V1 November 2010 and were signed on its behalf by

Nick Ferguson, Chairman
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 July 2010

Note
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets 11
Tangible assets 12
Fixed asset Investments 14
ENDOWMENT ASSETS 15
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 16
Debtors 17
Cash at bank and in hand
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 18

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

CREDITORS: amounts failing due after more than one

year 19
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 21
NET ASSETS

DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS 22
ENDOWMENTS

Permanent Restricied 23
Permanent Unrestricted 23
Expendable Restricted 23

TOTAL ENDOWMENTS

RESERVES

General reserve 24
Resfricted reserves 245
Revaiuation Reserve 24h
TOTAL

The financial statements of the Courtauld Institute of Art, registered number 04464432, were
approved by the governing body on 1} November 2010 and were signed on its behalf by:

ick Ferguson, Chairman
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2010 2009
£'000 £'000
(115) (179)
3,300 3,431
6,951 5,183
10,136 9,435
18,285 15,832
105 88
2,175 1,215
1,233 1,346
3513 2,648
(3,727) (3,598)
214 (949)
28,207 24,318
1) (121)
(1,287) (1,089)
26,829 23,108
1,857 1,623
3,797 3,186
10,186 8,741
4,302 3,905
18,285 15,832
6,027 5,552
94 41
566 60
26,825 23,108




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year ended 31 July 2010

Cash flow from operating activities

Returns on investments and servicing of

finance

Capital expenditure and financial

investment

Management of liquid resources

Financing

Decrease in cash in the year

Nofe

25

26

27

28

29

30

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET FUNDS

Decrease in cash in the year

Cash outflow from increase in debt
Cash inflow/ {outflow) from endowment
asset investmenis

Cash inflow/ (outflow) from fixed asset

invesiments

Movement in net funds in year
Net funds at 1 August

Net funds at 31 July

29
30

30

30

24

Year ended Year ended
31 July 2010 31 July 2009
£'000 £000
(625) (1,636)
1,356 528
{342) 815
(502) (134)
(113} (627)
(113) {627)
502 134
1,446 (1,331)
556 {551)
2,391 (2,375)
497 2,872
2.888 497




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

1.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared In accordance with the Statement of Recommended
Practice {SCRP): Accounting for Further and Higher Educaticn 2007 and in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the
revaluation of endowment asset investments.

Basis of censolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the Institute and its subsidiary undertakings for the
financial year ended 31 July 2010. Details of the Institute’s subsidiary undertakings are provided in
note 12 to the financial statemenis. The financial statements have been consolidated under the
acquisition method of accounting.

The Courtauld institute of Art Fund (CIAF) is a charity registered under the Charities Act 1863,
number 288508. Its principal activity is to raise funds for the benefit of the Courtauld institute of Art.
In accordance with Section 87 of the Act, CIAF is treated as a special trust for accounting purposes
and s activiies and resuiis have therefore been aggregated into fhe Instiute's resuls for the year.

(Deficit)/Surplus atiributable fo The Courtauld Institute of Art

The surplus for the financial year dealt within the financial statements of the parent Institute,
Courtauld Institute of Art, was £532,000 (2008/09: deficit of £485,000). Included within the results for
200810 was a resiricted surplus of £53,000 atiributable to CIAF (2008/09: deficit of £48,000, see
above and note 24a). As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate income
and expenditure account is presented in respect of the parent institute.

Going Concern

The company's business activities and plans for the future are set out in the Direclors’ Report on
page 2. The directors have considered these plans and the budget for the year ahead in their
assessment of adopting the going concern basis for the preparation of these financial statements.

in making this assessment the directors have produced future forecasts which show that the
company will be able to manage its working capital and existing resources to enable it to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. The directors acknowledge that the impact of the current economic
environment is unceriain, and are managing this uncertainty and its impact on the forecasts on a
reguiar basis.

Based on these factors, the directors have prepared these financial statements on the going concern
basis.

Revenue Recognition

Nor-recurrent grants from the Funding CGouncil or other bodies received in respect of the acquisition
or construction of fixed assets are treated as deferred capital grants and ameoriised in line with
depraciation over the life of the assets.

Income from rasearch grants, contracts and cther services rendered is accounted for on an accruals
basis and is included to the extent of the completion of the contract or service concerned. This is
generally equivalent io the sum of the relevant expenditure Ingurred during the pericd and any
related contributions towards overhead costs. Any payments received in advance of such
performance are recognised on the balance sheet as labilities. All income from non-endowment
refated short-term deposits is credited fo the income and expenditure account in the period in which it
is garned.

Income and expenditure related to the Summer School which runs for the four weeks ending in the
first week of August each year is treated as failing in full in the year in which the summer school
COMmmMencas.

Donations with restrictions are recognised when relevant conditions have been mest; in many cases
recognition is directly related o expenditure incurred on specific purpeses. Donations which are to be
retained for the benefit of the institute are recognised in the statement of consclidated total
recognised gains and losses and in endowments; other donations are recognised by inclusion as
other income in the income and expenditure account,
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

1.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued)

Endowments

Permanent Endowments are invested on a total return basis. Returns on investments are credited o
the income and expenditure account io the extent that they have been applied for the purposes
intended by the donor. Returns beyond this amount are retained within the unapplied tolat retumn
fund as part of the endowment until such time as they are applied by the Institute and a transfer is
made to the income and expenditure account.

Any increase in value arising on the revaluation of fixed asset investmenis is carried as a credit to
the revaluation reserve, via the statement of consolidated total recognised gains and losses; a
diminution in value is charged to the income and expenditure account as a debit, to the extent that it
is not covered by a previous revaiuation surpius.

Foreign currency transiation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabiliies denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at year-end rates. Exchange differences are dealt with in the income and
expenditure account, except in respect of foreign exchange variations in respect of future
endowments, any exchange variations for which are shown in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses.

Pension Schemes

The Institute participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined befit scheme
which is contracied out of the Staie Second Pension (8P2). The assets of the scheme are held in a
separate trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme's
assets are not hypothecated to individua! institutions and a scheme wide contribution rate is set. The
institution is therefore exposed (o actuarial risks associated with other institutions' employees and is
unable to identify its share of the asets and liabilittes of the scheme on a censistent and reasonable
basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17 "Retirement benefits", accounts for the scheme as if it
were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the income and expendiiure
account represents the amount payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting period.

The institute also participates in the Superannuation Arrangements of the University of London
{SAUL), which is a centralised defined benefit scheme and is contracted-cut of the Second State
Pension. SAUL is a "ast man standing” scheme so that in the event of the insoivency of any of the
participating employers in SAUL, the amount of any pension funding shortfall {which cannot
otherwise be recovered) in respect of that employer will be spread across the remaining participant
employers and reflected in the next actuarial valuation. A formai valuation of SAUL is carried out
every three years by professionailly quaiified and independent actuaries using the Projected Unit
mathod. Informal reviews of SAUL's position are carried out between formal valuations.

SCT Enterprises Limited contributes to two defined contribution schemes on behalf of its employees,
In accordance with FRS17, contributions to these schemes are included as expenditure in the period
in which they are payable.

Negative goodwill

Negative goodwill arising upon acquisitions Is included within intangible assets and is released o the
income and expenditure account over the He of the tangible asseis to which # relates. Any residual
negative goodwill is recognised in the income and expenditure account in the period expected to
benefit,

Tangibie fixed assets

a) Land and buildings

improvements 1o leasehold land and buildings are amortised over 10 years or, if shorter, the
remaining period of the lease.

Where assets related o land and buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are
capfialised and depreciated as above. The related grants are crediled to a deferred capital grant
account and are released to the income and expenditure account over the expectad useful sconomic
life of the related asset on a basis consistent with the depreciation policy.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out annually for residential buildings and otherwise
If everds or changes in circumsiances indicate that the carrying amount of any fixed asset may not
be recoverable.
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 Ju

1.

NP OF i
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b Equipment

Equipment costing less than £10,000 per individual item or set of similar items is written off to the
income and expenditure account in the year of acguisition. All cther equipment is capitalised at cost.
Capitatised equipment is depreciated over its useful economic fife as follows:

General equipment - 10% per annum from the year of acquisition
Computer equipment - 33% per annum from the year of acquisition

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued}

Tangible fixed assets {continued)

Where fixed assets are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised and depreciated
in accordance with the above policy, with the related grant being credited to a deferred capital grant
account and released to the income and expenditure account over the expected useful economic life
of the related fixed assets.

<) Rare books and artefacts

Rare books and artefacts (Heritage Assets) and valued at £853,000 are capitalised at the cost or
value of the acguisition, where such a cost or valuation is reasonably chtainable, Heritage assets are
not depreciated since their long econemic life and high residual value mean that any depreciation
would not be material.

Leased assets

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on & straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasing agreements that transfer i the Institute substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership
of an asset are treated as if the asset had been purchased ouiright. The assets are inciuded in fixed
assets and the capital elements of the ieasing commitments are shown as obligations under finance
leases. The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest eiements. The capital
element is applied to reduce the outstanding obligations and the interest element is charged to the
income and expenditure account in proportion to the reducing capital element cutstanding. Assets
held under finance ieases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful economic
lives of equivalent owned assets.

Assets, which are held under hire purchase contracts, which have the characteristics of finance
leases, are depreciated over their useful lives,

investments

Fixed asset investiments that are not listed on a recegnised stock exchange are camried at historica!
cost iess any provision for impairment in their value. Listed assets are indluded in the balance sheet
at market value.

investments that form part of endowment assets are included in the balance sheet at market vaiue.

Current asset investments are included in the balance sheet at the lower of their original cost and net
realisable value.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost and net realisable value.
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Yi d 31 July 20110
fear epdad ALt RPBF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

The Institute is an exempt charity within the meaning of schedule 2 of the Charities Act 1993 and as
such is a charity within the meaning of section 506 (1} of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
{ICTA) 1988. Accordingly, the Institute is potentially exemnpt from taxation in respect of income or
capital gains received within categories covered by section 505 of the ICTA 1888 or section 256 of
the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1892, to the extent that such income or gains are applied to
exclusively charitable purposes.

The Institute receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax. Irecoverabie VAT on
inputs is inciuded in the cost of such inputs. Any irmecoverable VAT aliccated o tangible fixed assets
is inctuded in their cost.

SCT Enterprises Limited is subject to corporation tax and Value Added Tax in the same way as any
commercial organisation and current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered)
using the tax rates and iaws that have been enacted or substantively enacted af the balance sheet
date.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits wili be required to setile the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the cbligation.
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 Juily 2010

z FUNDING COUNCH, GRANTS
Year ended Year ended
31 Julv 2010 37 Julv 2009

£'000 £'000
Recurrent grant from HEFCE 3012 2,478
Matched Fuading Scheme a8e 720
Deferred Capital Granls released 137 187
Other specific grants from HEFCE 1584 129

4,381 3,462

2 TWHTION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS
Year ended Year ended
31 Julv 2010 31 Julv 2009

£'000 £000
UK Higher Education siudents 942 843
European Union (EU)Y {excluding UK} 162 131
Non-EU studerts 891 a8g
Totaj fees paid by or on behalf of individual
studenis 1,988 1,854
Other aducation incoma k] 50

2,085 1,804

B e S

4 RESEARCH GRANTS AND CONTRACTS
Yearended Ysarended
31 Jubv 2010 31 Julv 2009

£'000 £'000
Research councils 42 40
UK hased charities 65 103
Et Charity 23 37
Other arants and contracts 6590 576
820 1.656

3 OTHER INCOME
Year ended  Year ended
31 Juiv 2010 31 Julv 2008

£'900 £000
Donations t.442 1.230
Delerred Capitat Grants released 29 25
The Courtauid Gallery- admissions and
avents 438 418
SCT Enterprises Ltd {The Gallery Shop) 625 612
Other mcome 696 578

3224 2851

6 ENDOWMENT AND INVESTMENT INCOME
Year antled  Year ended
31 Julv 2010 31 Jubv 2009

£'000 £°000
income {from endowments released 10 1&E
accourst (note 23) 1,003 386
Qiner investment income 357 162

1,360 5a8
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

7 STAFF COSTS
The average weekly number of persons {including directors) employed by the Group during the year,

axpressad as fulliime equivalents, was;

Year ended  Year ended
31 July 2010 31 Julv 2009

No No
Teaching depariments 36 37
Teaching suppor senvices 2 2
Galiery & Libraries 26 22
Administration and central senvices 43 a4
Premises 4 4

Othar 13 S
118 121

Statf costs {or the above persons: 2900 £'000
Wages and salares 4,867 4781
Sosial security costs 423 425
Pansion costs 559 574
848 5,730

The number of staff, including the directors, who received emoluments {excluding empioyers pension
contributions) of more than £100,000 in the financiat vear was!

Year ended  Year ended

31 Julv 2010 31 Julv 2609
No Ho

£170,060- £186,000 1

8 SENIOR POST HOLDER'S EMOLUMENTS
The emaluments of the Director of the instituta are as follows —
Yearended Year ended
31 July 2010 31 Julv 2608

£000 £000
Salary 173 171
Pension contributions 27 24

200 185

£ension confributions are in respect of emplayer's contributions to the Universilies Superannuation
Scheme and are paid at the same rate as for other employees.

L} ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE BY ACTIVITY

Staff costs Other Depreciation  Year ended  Year ended
operating 31 Judy 2018 31 July 2008
axpenses”
Totat Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £7000 £'000
Teaching departments 2,808 975 - 3,583 3323
Academic information services 522 142 - 664 1.208
Gallery 552 580 28 1,160 748
Administration ang central sanvices 1,703 1,147 159 3.008 3,397
- 1,327 245 1,572 1.481

Premises costs

Planned maintenance - ¥z - 272 207
Other income generating activitiss - institute
228 103 B 331 218
Other income generaling activitias -
subsidiaries 235 350 12 508 801
5,849 4,896 444 11,189 11282

* oiher operaling expenses includes interest payabile ( see note 10},
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COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

Year ended Year anded

ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE BY ACTIVITY (continuad) 31 Jubv 2010 3% Jubv 2609
Totai Total
£'000 £900

Other operating expenses incfude:

Amartisation of neqative goodwifi {64) 64}
Audifors’ remunaration
-statutory audit 42 57
- ofher senices - 29
Hire af other assets 13 22
Operating Leases 207 228

Tive extarnal audit fee for (3e instifute was £39,000 (2008-08: £50.000)

Year ended Year ended

INTERESY PAYABLE 31 Juiv 2010 31 Judy 2000
£'000 £'000
On bark loans and other loans:
Repayable within § years by instaimentis 4 20
4 20
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Negative goodwill
Institute Group
E'0CG £7000
Cost
AL 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 {599y {1,0803
Amortisation
At 1 August 2009 420 G901
Released in the year B84 G4
At 31 July 2010 4Bd belitd
Net book value
At 31 July 2010 (115} {115}
AL31 July 2008 [, (178)

Negative goodwilil for the Institute relates 1o the difference between the value of assers acguired on independence
from the University of London and the amount paid for those assets. Negative goedwill for the Group additicnally
mcludes the difference between the vaiue of assets acquired on the takeover of SCT Enterprises Lid and the price
paitt {or those assets

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

institute Leasehold Rare books
tand and and Computer Genera!
bulldings artefacts aquipment egulpment Totat
£'000 £'000 £000 2900 £'00
Cost
At 1 Aagust 2009 2523 853 472 1,302 5,150
Additions 130 - 29 154 213
Al 31 July 2010 2,653 853 501 1.456 5.4683
Depreciation
At 1 August 2009 832 - 417 501 1750
Charge {or year 237 - 43 152 432
At 31 duly 2010 1,069 - 480 853 2.182
Net book value
At 31 July 2010 1,684 853 41 &03 3287
A1 31 July 2009 1,691 853 55 801 3,400
inherded - 853 - - 553
Financed by capitat grant 1,383 - - 50 1,443
Gther i - 41 753 985
1,584 8563 41 803 3281

31




COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

15

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued)
Group

Cast
Ab T Ausgust 2009

Additions
AL 31 July 2010

Bepreciation
At 1 August 2009

Charge for year
At 31 Judy 2010

Net book vaiue
A3 Juby 2010

At 31 July 2008
Irherited

Firanced by capitai grant
Other

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
Institute

The insiinite has the foliowing subsidiary underlaking:

Name

SCT Enterprises Limited

Leasehold Rare books
land and and Computer General
buildings artefacts  eguipment  equipment Totst
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £7000
25623 843 478 1,393 5,248
130 - 28 154 313
2,653 853 508 1.547 5,561
83z - 424 581 1.817
237 - 43 164 444
1.069 - 467 TeE 2,28%
1,684 853 &t 822 3,300
1,681 a5l 55 432 3,431
- B53 - - 853
1.393 - - 50 1,443
191 - 41 77z 1.004
1,584 353 41 822 3396
Ownership Year end
100% 307200

SCT Enigrprises Limited is a company registered in England and Wales and its nrncipal activity is the
sale of items retated o the Counlauid Institute Gallery and its collections.
Cantrol of SCT Enterprises Limited fransferred {0 the institule on 1 August 2003,

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Institule and Group

Balance broughi fosward at 1 August
Total Returns accrued in the vear
tncome received lransferred o income &
axpenditure account

Transiers fram / (to} general reserves

Balance at 31 July

Represented by:
UnH Trusis and invastment Trusts
Cash batances

ENDOWMENT ASSETS
Institute and Group

Balance brougit forward at 1 August
Capitai
Unapmied Total Relurns

Additions (note 22)

Totai Retums on endowment asse!
irrvestmants

income received transiered to income &
expenditure accouni

Transter of accumulatad income frony {to)
neneral reserves

Balance at 31 July

Represented by:

Unit Trusts and fnvestment Trusts

(ash palances

Amaunts owing from benefaciors & others

2010 2008
£'000 £'000
8,183 7,614
860 (e74)
(354) (158)
287 {2969
6,951 5,153
6,463 6,261
488 (58)
5,851 6,183
2010 2009
£°600 000
14,204 14,500
1,628 2860
15.832 18,350
1,120 63t
2,459 (2,394)
(1,008) (388}
167 372
18,285 15,832
16,854 15977
1.272 74}
159 28
18,265 15,832

In accordance with the the 20457 BE SORP which replaced the previous analysis of endowment assels
{spacific or general} with a revised sel of classifications (Permanent reslricted, Permanend unrestricled
and Expendahle restricled (see Note 23}) those assats thal are both expendable and unrestricted can
na longer be described as endowments and have therefore been reclassified as Fixed Assel
Investments within (hese Bnancial statements. However for the purpose of managing the investment
portioio and for ali other management and administrative purposes, the endowment asset invesiments
and fixed assel invesiments continug to be administered jointly in a singe fund which was valued at
£25.236m at 31 July 2010, (31 July 2009: £22.015m)

32




COURTAULD INSTIYUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2010

18

20

STOCKS

Finished goods

DEBTORS

Trade and student deblors

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
Taxation and VAT recoverable

HEFCE Match Funding Grants

Other Acerued Revenue

Other gebtors

Prepayments

institute Group
2010 2009 2010 200¢
£900 £'000 £000 £'000
- - 105 88
Institute Group
Z0t0 2009 2019 2009
£000 £7000 £'000 £'000
i 73 55 75
148 103 - -
aa 48 58 49
346 720 1.346 120
b24 223 524 243
i6 7 B8 17
163 118 176 731
2307 1,304 2,178 1,238

HEFCE Match funding 18 paid according o a profile determined by HEFCE, with the final payment gue

in February 2012,

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Loan from Usiversity of London

Bank loan

Pavments received in agvance

Trade credltors

Amounts due lo subsidiary undertakings
Accruals

Other taxation and social secutity

Other craditors

CRERITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

institute and Group

Bank loan

HORROWINGS
Institute and Group

Loans are repayable as follows;
In one year of iess

Batween one and two vears
Between two and five vears

Insiitute Group
2010 2008 2619 2009
£7000 £'000 £000 £'000
- 472 - 472
30 30 ac 30
2,822 1,898 2,822 1,868
399 301 418 310
26 - - -
193 560 201 T0a
118 183 134 171
22 14 22 14
AT 3,538 3727 3,508
2010 26008
£000 £'000
01 12t
gt 121
2070 2009
£'000 £000
3¢ 502
30 30
81 ot
121 623

Interest is payabie on the ioan From the University of Londor and from the hank at vanable rales,
finked to the Bank of Scoland avernight deposi! rate and the iender bank's base rate respactively
During the year, the averags loan interes! payable on the losn from the University of London, which
matured on 31 July 2010 was 8.35%. Interest payable on the bank loan was 1.5% throughout the year
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2%

22

23

PROVISICNS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
institute and Group

A 1 August 2009
Trangletred fom income and expenditure account
Utitised in year

At 31 July 2010

Dilapidations
£'000

1.088
225
(27}

1.287

The dilapidations provision relates to cosis 1o be incurred in returning the premises ficensed from Somersel House

Trust 1o their griginal condition,

DEFERRED CARITAL GRANTS

Instiiite and Group Bazlance at
1August Receivedin HReleased in Balance at 31
2009 year year July 2610
£800 £000 £'000 £'800
HEFCE- Leasehold land ard builldings (1,285} {293 133 {1.445)
HEFCE- General Equigment 21) - 4 {17}
Cther- Land and buildings {317y 5] 25 (304)
Other- General Equipment - {96} 4 {91}
{1,623) 400} 166 11 ,857)

Capitat grants are deferred and released Lo the Income & Expentiture account aver the useful economic life of the
asset against e related deprecistion charge in proportion to the level of the grant received.

ENDOWMENTS

institute and Group Permanent Permanent Total £xpendable
Restricted  Unrestricted  Permanent Resiricted Tolal 2010 Total 2009
£°000 £7000 £'0600 £000 £'600 £0060
Al 1 Aunus! 2008
Capital 3,187 7,142 10.289 3608 14.204 14,500
Unapplied Toial Retumns 29 1.588 1,828 - 1628 3,850
3,186 B,74% 11,527 3,905 15,832 48,350
Received in the year 204 585 aiesl 230 1120 834
Total Retums accrued in the year 447 1,193 1,640 529 2,168 (2,391)
Tolal Returns transferred 10 income &
wsxpenditure account (note 6) 137} (437} {474} 1528} £1,003) {386}
Transfer of sccumulated ingome from/ (to)
peneral resemnves - - - 167 1G67 1372}
AL3T duly 2010
Capital 3,388 7.831 11,189 4,302 15,491 14,204
Unapplied Total Retumns 438 2355 2,784 - 2794 1,628
3,797 10,186 13,883 4,302 18,285 15,832
Reprasanting
Fellowships and scholarships funds 1,702 108 1.800 1,615 3518 3221
Prizes funds 140 10 . 10 g
Chiairs and kectursshing funds 708 704 1.670 2379 1,880
Other funds 1.376 8,968 11,384 1647 12,3814 10,522
37497 10,186 13,983 4,302 18,285 16,832

The Board has resolved that income up to @ maximurm of 4% of the current vajue of unrestrictad endowments shouid be released to
the theome & Expendire Account, to cover any residual operating deficit of the Institute.
The institule operates & total ratums policy in respect of its endowment and fixed asset investments. Releases ta the income &
expendilure account ant transfers to general reserves are accordingly based on income and growth realised during the year,
subject to the canditions for tha use of funds being mel in the case of restricted funds and the limits imposed by the board in the

case of unresiricted funds.

Included within the iabie sbove, the institute holds two permanent unrestrictad endowments that could be considered to be materiai
charitabie funds. The funds, each of which was given fo suppart the long term Hnancial sustainability of the instiiute. can be

analysed as follows:

At 1 August 2008
Capital
tnapplied Totaf Retums

Tolat Returns accrued in the vear
Totai Returns iransferred (o income &
expendiire account (note 6)

A3 duly 2010

Capitai

Unappiied Tolal Returns

The Garfleld
Lisbet Weston
Rausing  Foundation
£'000 £'000
5,000 1,000
1431 236
6,431 1,236
578 169
1353} 143)
50600 1.008
1,357 382
8,457 1,362
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4 MOVEMENT ON GENERAL RESERVES

Institute Group
£000 £7000
AL 1 August 2008 5,524 5,552
Surplus refzined for the vear 648 642
Transfers 10 accumulated income within
endowments {167) {167}
AL3T July 2010 5,063 5027
24a MOVEMENT ON RESTRICTED RESERVES
institute and Group Year ended
31 Suly 2010
£'000
Al 1 August 2009 41
CIAF surpius retained for the year 53
AL3T Jduly 2010 . 03
24p  MOVEMENT ON REVALUATION RESERVES
Institute and Group Year ended
31 July 2010
£'000
Al 1 August 2009 60
Total Retums on fixed assel investmenis 450
income received fransterred 10 income &
expenditure account 1354y
Al 37 July 2010 586

25 RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT] TO RET CASH OUTFLOW FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Year ended Year ended
31 Juiv 2010 31 Julv 2009

£000 £7000
Sumlus/ (Deficil) on continuing operations. 595 (8511
Depraciation 444 438
Amartisation of negative goodwill (64} {54}
(lncrease) Decrease in stogiks (17} 50
{increase}in deblors (960} {740
norease i creditors 501 i3
Increase in provisions 198 207
interest receivable {1,360) 1548}
interast pavabie 4 20
Deferred captal grants released (168) {1621
Met gutflow from operating activities {525 {t 8y
26 RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
2010 2009
£1000 £'600
Income from endowments 1,003 366
Other interest received 357 162
Interest paid {4} {20)
Net cash inflow from retusns on investmenis 1,356 528
and servicing of finance
27 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT
2010 2009
£:000 £000
Furchase of tangibie fixed assets {313} {400)
Capital grants received 400 344
Endowment incume received {161 arz
Income received from lixed asset {262} 299
invesiments
MNet cash (outflow) inflow from capitat
expenditure and linantial invasiment (342} 6158
28 MANAGEMENT OF LIGUID RESOURCES
2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Mavemaent in Endogwmeant Agsets - -
29 FINANCING
2010 2008
£'060 £'000
MNew loans g 16
Repayment of oans {510} {150)
(562) [EELH
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ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FUNDS
A1 August  Cash fiows At 31 July

2008 2010

£7000 £'000 £7000
Cash at hank and t hand 1.346 {113) 1.233
Endowment asset invesiments (nole 15) (174) 1,446 1,272
Fixed Asset investimenls (note 14) 68} 556 488
Debl due within ane vear {5023 472 {30}
Debt due after more than one year {121} a0 {91}
Correction 1o balances broughi forward at 1
August 2007 i8 - 16
Total 497 2,33 2,888

PENSION AND S AR OELIGATIONS

Universily Superannuatien Scheme (USS}

The Inslitule participates it the Universilies Superannualion Scheme (USS), z defined befit scheme which is
contracted out of the State Secand Pension ($F2) The assels of the scheme are held in a separale truslee-
adrministered fund. Because of the mutual natere of the scheme, the scheme's assets are nof hypothecated io
individeal insttutions and a scheme wide contribution rate is set. The institution is therefore exposed to actuarat risks
associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable o identify its share of the asats and Habilities of the
scheme on & consisten! and reasonabie basis and therelfore, as required by FRS 17 "Retiremen! benefifs”, accounts
for the scheme as ff i were a defined contribution scheme, As a result, the amount charged to the income 2nd
axpenditure account represents the amount payable to the scheme in respect of the actounting period.

The latest triennlat actluarial valuation of the scheme was al 31 March 2008, This was the first valuation for USS under
{he new scheme-specific funding regime infroduced by the Pension Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a
stutony funding objective, which i o have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover thelr technical provisions. The
actuary also camies aut 3 review of the funding level each year between frignnial valuations and detalis of his estimate
af {he fuading Jevel at 31 March 2010 are aiso included in this note.

The trienniai valuation was caried out using the projected unit methed, The assumptions which have the most
significant effect on the resuit of the valuation are those relating to the rate of retumn on investments (ie the valuation
rate of iherest), the rale of increase In salary and pensiens and tiwe assumad rate of modalty, The financial
assemptions were derived from market yields prevaailing at the valuation date. An “inflation risk premium" adjustment
was also included by deducting 0.3% Fom the markel-implied mflation on account of the historically high levet of
inflation implied by government bonds (particuiany wiren compared o the Bank of England's target of 2% for CPI
which corresponds broadiy 10 2.75% for RP| per annum}.

To calculate the technicat provisions, it was assumed that the valuation rate of interesl would be 6.4% per annum
{which ingludes an additional assumed investment return over gilts of 2% per annum}, salary increases would he 4.3%
per annum {pius an additional allowance for increases in salaries due to age and promotion reflecting historic scheme
experiance, with 2 further cadtionary reserve on top for past senvice ilabifitles) and pensions would increase by 3.3%
per anfm

Af the valuation date, the vaiue of the assels of the scheme was £28 842.6 million and the value of the scheme's
lechnical provisions was £28,135.3 million indicating & surplus of £707.3 million. The assets were therefore sufficient
10 cover 103% of the benefits which had accrued to members afler allowing for expactad future Increases n earnings.

The actuary alss valued the scheme on a number of other hases as at the valuation date. On the scheme's histotic
gits basis, using a valuation rate of interast in respect of past service lisbllities of 4.4% per annum (the expected
retuen on gilts} the funding level was approximately 71%. Under the Pension Protection Fund regulations infroduced
py the Pensions Agl 2004 the Scheme was t07% tunded; on 2 buy-out basis {le assuming the Scheme had
discontinuad on the valuation dale) the assets would have been approximately 7% of the amount necessary to
secure all the USS benefits with an insutance company, and using the FRS17 formuila as if USS was a single
amnioyer scheme, using 8 AA bond discount rale of 6.5% per annum based on spot yields, the actuary estimaled that
the funding levet at 31 March 2008 was 104%.

The technical provistons relate essengaily fo the past service liabilities and funding levels, but it is also necessary to
assess the ongoing cost of newly accruing benefits, The cost of future accrual was calculated using the same
assumptions as those used to calculate the technical provisions except that the valualion rale of inleres! assumed
asset outperformance over gilts of 1.7% per annum {compared 0 2% par annum for the technical provisions; giving a
discound rate of 6.1% per annum; also the allowance for prometional salary increases was not as high. There is
curently uncerainty in the seclor regarding pay growth, Analysts has shown very vatiable levels of growihy over and
above general pay increases in recent years, and the satary growth assumption built into the cost of future accrual is
based on more stable, hisloric, salary experience. However, when calcuating the pas! service llabilities of the
scheme, a cautionary reserve has bean inciuded, in addition, on account of the vardabilily mentioned above.

The schame-wide conbrihution rate required for futurs service benelils alone at the date of the valuation was 16% of
pensicrable salaries and the trusiee company, or the advice of the actuary, creased the institulion conlribution rate
o 16% of pensionable salafies from {1 Cctober 2008,

Since 31 March 2008 globai invesiment markets have continued to fluctuale and at 31 March 2010 the acluary has
estimated that the funding level under the new scheme spacific funding regime had fallen from 103% o 91% {2 deficit
of £3.085 mitlion). This estimate Is based on the funding level at 31 March 2008, adiusted ta reflect the fund's actual
investment perfurmance over the two yaars and changes i markat conditions (market conditions affect both the
valuation rate of interest and also the inflation assumption which in furn impacts on the salary and pengion increase
ASSUMIHIDNS),

On the FRSE17 basis. using an AA pond discount rate of 5.58% per annum based on spol vields, the actuary estmated
that the funding fevel at 31 March 2090 was BO%. An estimate of the funding level measured on a buy-out basis al
that date was approximately 57%.

Surpluses or deficils which arise at lutwre valualions may impact on the institution’s future contribution commitment, A

deficlt may require additional funding in the form of higher cantribution requirements, where a surius could, perhaps,
he used to similardy reduce contribution requirements,

36



COURTAULD INSTITUTE OF ART

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 July 2016

31

3z

33

34

PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued)

LSS is a "as! man standing” scheme so that in the event of Ihe insolvency of any of the participating empioyars in
USS, the amount of any peasion funding shortfall (which cannot otherwise be recovered) in respect of that employer
will ba spread across the remaining participant employars and reflected in the next actuarlal valuation of the scheme.

The next formai riennial actuarial valuation is due as at 31 March 2011 .The contributlon rate will be reviewed as part
of gach valuation and may be reviewed more frequently.

At 31 March 2010, USS had over 135,000 active members and The Courtauld had 64 active members participating in
the schame

The totat pension cost for the mnstitution was £438,000 (2008 £410,000). The conlbbution rate payable by the
inskitution was 16% of pensionable salaries.

Superannuation Scheme of the University of London (SAUL)

The Institule participztes in a centralised defined benefil scheme for all qualified employees with the assets hald in
separate Trustes-adminisigrad funds. The Courtauld institute of Ard has now adopted FRS17 for accounting for
pension costs. I is not possible to identify the The Courtauid's share of the underlying assets and liabilities of SAUL.
Thareforg contributions are accounted for as it SAUL were a defined contribution scheme and pension costs are
based on the amounts actually paid (ie cash amounts) in accordance with paragraphs € — 12 of FR3817.

SAUL is subjec! to triennial valuations by professionally qualified and independent acluaries. The last available
valualion was camed oul as at 31 March 2008 using the projected unit credd method in which the actuarial Hability
makes allowance for projected earnings, The foflowing assumplions were used 10 assess the past service funding
position and future senvice labiities:

Valuation method: Projected unit
Past Future
Service Service
irnvestment retuin on iaoiiities: 8.9% pa To% pa.
- hefore retiremeant 48% pa. 5.0% p.a.
- gfter retirement
Salary growth* 4 85% p.a. 4 685% p.a.
Fansich NCreases 3.35% pa 3.35% p.a.

#excluthng an sfowance for prometional incraases

The actuarial vatiation appes to SAUL as 2 whale and doeas not identify surphsses or deficils applicable to individual
empioyers. As a whole, the market value of SAUL's assets was £1,266 milion representing 100% of the Hability for
hengfits after aliowing for expecied future incroases in salaries.

Based on the strength of the Employer covenani and the Trustee's long-term investment strategy, the Trustee and the
Employers agreed to maintain Employer and Member contributions at 13% of Salaries and 8% of Salaries respectively
foliowing the valuation

A comparison of SAUL's assets and liabilities calculated using assumplions consisient with FRS17 reveaied SALL 1o
ne in supius af the kast formal valuation date {31 March 2008),

The next formial actuarial valuation s due at 31 March 2011 when the above rales will be reviewed.

FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
AL 31 July 2010 the Group and the Institute had arnual commitinents under non-canceliable operating leases as foliows:

2010 2008
£'000 £'000
Ltand and buildings
Expiring in aver five years 4440 223

ln April 2008, the Institute entered infe 2 30 year lease (with a break clause after 18 years) with the Duchy of
Lancaster for the provision of student accomodation at Duchy House. Foliowing an initlal rent free period, annual rent
will bacome pavabig in Januarv 201,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On 20 May 2003, the Insfiiute invested £300,000 of endowmnent assels n SVG Capital plc {formerty Schroder
Ventures International Investment Trust pic) convertible bonds. In accordance with the terms and condiions of the
bonds, they were converied into ordinary siares of the company on 13 June 2008 and the instivie elected lo retain
the shares. Nicholas Fergusen, Chairman of the Courtauld insiitute of Art, is also Chalrman of SVG Capital ple.

During the year, the Ilastilule paid £602,000 to the University of London, of which the insiitute is an Independent
Colege, {2008-9 £228,000). Of this amount, £482,000 was in conneciion with he an relerredt 1o W notes 18 and 18
(2008-5 £134,000). The balance of £120,0600 was for other support services (2004-9 £94,000),

During the year the Instituie acted as Custodian for the works of art displayed and slored in the Courtauld Gallery but
owned by the Samuel Courtauid Trust and others, MNicholas Fergusen and Sir Angus S¥rling are also direclors of the
Samuel Courtauld Trust

During the year the Institute received donztions from Nicholas Ferguson of £347,000 (2008-9 £182,000) and from
Martin HMalusa of £97,000 {2008-9 £35 000}, Both Mr Ferguson and Mr Halusa are Direclors of the Institute.

No paymant was made to any director for expenges relating to their role {2008-00: £Mil)

CONTROLLING PARTY

The institite is a company limited by guarantee without any share capital and members, hence these is no controfing
party.
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